---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**LARRY C. BEVERAGE, Individually and as  
Personal Representative of the Estate of  
CHARLES E. BEVERAGE, deceased,  
LINDA K. ANDERSON, and BONNIE K. VALENTINE,**  
*Plaintiffs/Appellants*

vs.

**ALCOA, INC., a Pennsylvania Corporation, and  
IOWA-ILLINOIS TAYLOR INSULATION, INC.,  
successor-in-interest to IOWA ILLINOIS  
THERMAL INSULATION, INC., an Iowa Corporation,**  
*Defendants/Appellees.*

---

Appeal from the Scott County District Court,  
District Court No. LACE129455,  
The Honorable Patrick A. McElyea, presiding

---

**APPELLANTS' AMENDED BRIEF**

---

Lisa W. Shirley  
(admitted *pro hac vice*)  
DEAN OMAR BRANHAM SHIRLEY, LLP

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The district court's grant of summary judgment to Defendants/Appellees Alcoa, Inc. and Iowa-Illinois Taylor Insulation ("IITI") raises the following issues for review:

**I. Does retroactive application of Iowa Code § 686B.7(5) to bar the Beverages' vested claims against Alcoa and IITI violate their rights to due process under the United States and Iowa constitutions?**

*Ames Rental Prop. Ass'n v. City of Ames*, 736 N.W.2d 255 (Iowa 2007)

*In re Estate of Adams*, 599 N.W.2d 707 (Iowa 1999)

*Greenwell v. Meredith Corp.*, 189 N.W.2d 901 (Iowa 1971)

*Kragel v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 537 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 1995)

*Koenig v. Koenig*, 766 N.W.2d 635 (Iowa 2009)

*Spaur v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.*, 510 N.W.2d 854 (Iowa 1994)

*Mulcahy v. Eli Lilly & Co.*, 386 N.W.2d 67 (Iowa 1986)

*Thorp v. Casey's General Stores, Inc.*, 446 N.W.2d 457 (Iowa 1989)

*Chrischilles v. Griswold*, 260 Iowa 453, 150 N.W.2d 94 (1967)

*LeBeau v. Dimig*, 446 N.W.2d 800 (Iowa 1989)

*Scott v. City of Sioux City*, 432 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 1988).

*Weitl v. Moes*, 311 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 1981)



*Audubon-Exira Ready Mix, Inc. v. Ill. Cent. Gulf R. Co.*, 335 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1983)

*In re Estate of Hoover*, 251 N.W.2d 529 (Iowa 1977)

**II. Did the district court err in interpreting Iowa Code § 686B.7(5) to bar all asbestos exposure claims against premises owners and product suppliers when the statute is clearly intended only to protect product manufacturers through the “bare metal” defense?**

*Insituform Techs., Inc. v. Employment Appeal Bd.*, 728 N.W.2d 781 (Iowa 2007)

*In re Det. of Johnson*, 805 N.W.2d 750 (Iowa 2011)

*Primm v. Iowa Dep’t of Transp.*, 561 N.W.2d 80 (Iowa 1997)

*Doe v. Iowa Dep’t of Human Servs.*, 786 N.W.2d 853 (Iowa 2010)

*State v. Carpenter*, 616 N.W.2d 540 (Iowa 2000)

*State v. Albrecht*, 657 N.W.2d 474 (Iowa 2003)

*Iowa Comprehensive Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Fund Bd. v. Shell Oil Co.*, 606 N.W.2d 376 (Iowa 2000)

*Rojas v. Pine Ridge Farms, L.L.C.*, 779 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 2010)

*Griffin Pipe Prod. Co. v. Guarino*, 663 N.W.2d 862 (Iowa 2003)

*Kay-Decker v. Iowa St. Bd. of Tax Review*, 857 N.W.2d 216 (Iowa 2014)

*Brakke v. Iowa Dep’t of Nat. Res.*, 897 N.W.2d 522 (Iowa 2017)

*State v. Schultz*, 604 N.W.2d 60 (Iowa 1999)

*Schonberger v. Roberts*, 456 N.W.2d 201 (Iowa 1990)

*Trainer v. Kossuth County*, 199 Iowa 55, 201 N.W. 66 (1924)

*Air & Liquid Sys. Corp. v. DeVries*, 139 S. Ct. 986 (2019)

*Thurmon v. Georgia Pac., LLC*, 650 F. App'x 752 (11th Cir. 2016)

*Conner v. Alfa Laval, Inc.*, 842 F. Supp. 2d 791 (E.D. Pa. 2012)

*In re: Asbestos Prod. Liab. Litig. (DeVries)*, 873 F.3d 232 (3d Cir. 2017)

*Air & Liquid Sys. Corp. v. DeVries*, 139 S. Ct. 986 (2019)

**III. Does Iowa Code § 686B.7(5) violate the equal protection provisions of the United States and Iowa constitutions by singling out the class of persons injured by asbestos exposure to deprive them of a remedy against premises owners and product suppliers?**

*Ames Rental Prop. Ass'n v. City of Ames*, 736 N.W.2d 255 (Iowa 2007)

*In re Estate of Adams*, 599 N.W.2d 707 (Iowa 1999)

*Miller v. Boone Cty. Hosp.*, 394 N.W.2d 776 (Iowa 1986)

*Beeler v. Van Cannon*, 376 N.W.2d 628 (Iowa 1985)

*Fed. Land Bank of Omaha v. Arnold*, 426 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 1988)

*Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Ward*, 470 U.S. 869 (1985)

*Chicago Title Ins. Co. v. Huff*, 256 N.W.2d 17 (Iowa 1977)

*Bierkamp v. Rogers*, 293 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 1980)

*In re: Asbestos Prod. Liab. Litig. (DeVries)*, 873 F.3d 232 (3d Cir. 2017)

## ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be decided by the Iowa Supreme Court as it presents substantial constitutional questions as to the validity of a statute, substantial issues of first impression, and involves fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (c), & (d).*

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This lawsuit arises out of Decedent Charles E. Beverage's exposure to asbestos insulation at the Alcoa plant in Bettendorf, Iowa for twenty years, from the 1950s to the 1970s. The plant was owned by Defendant/Appellee Alcoa, and much of the asbestos insulation was installed by Defendant/Appellee IITI. Charles<sup>1</sup> died from malignant mesothelioma, a cancer uniquely caused by asbestos exposure, on October 7, 2015. Wrongful death and survival claims were brought by Charles's children: his son, who was appointed the representative of his estate, and his two daughters.

Alcoa and IITI moved for summary judgment, arguing that the Beverage family's claims were barred by a provision in the recently enacted tort reform provision for asbestos and silica claims, Iowa Code § 686B.7(5). This section provides that "[a] defendant in an asbestos action or silica action shall not be liable for exposures from a product or component part made or sold by a third party." The provision "applies to

---

<sup>1</sup> Charles Beverage is referred to herein as "Charles" to avoid confusion with his son, Larry Beverage, who is a plaintiff and also a witness in the case. No disrespect is intended.

all asbestos actions and silica actions filed on or after July 1, 2017.”  
Iowa Code § 686B.9.

The trial court agreed with Defendants/Appellees and interpreted the statute to bar asbestos exposure claims against premises owners and insulation contractors that did not actually make the asbestos products at issue. He granted summary judgment to Alcoa and IITI via order dated October 1, 2019.

The trial court’s summary judgment ruling is in error for three reasons. First, application of Iowa Code § 686B.7(5) unconstitutionally deprives the Beverage family of a vested right against Alcoa and IITI. Their right to bring wrongful death and survival claims accrued at the time of Charles’s death in 2015, but the statute did not go into effect until July 1, 2017. Under established Iowa law, it violates due process to apply the statute retroactively to deprive them of a vested right.

Second, the district court’s interpretation of Section 686B.7(5) is not supported by the language or intent of the statute. The district court’s interpretation contravenes established rules of statutory construction, failing to consider the statutory language as a whole and adopting an overly broad and unsupported definition of “defendant.”

The court further failed to consider the legislative intent, which was clearly to adopt the “bare metal defense” to limit the liability of asbestos product manufacturers for asbestos replacement parts made by third parties. The district court’s interpretation leads to an absurd result of completely abolishing all causes of action against premises owners that created dangerous conditions on their property through careless use of asbestos, and asbestos insulation contractors that sold asbestos products.

Third, if the statute is properly interpreted to abolish asbestos exposure claims against premises owners and asbestos product suppliers, it violates the equal protection provisions of the United States and Iowa constitutions. Those suffering asbestos-related injuries are unconstitutionally singled out and deprived of a remedy for their injuries against premises owners and product suppliers, whereas persons with other types of injuries still have claims against these categories of defendants. This violates equal protection because there is no rational basis for this disparate treatment. Section 686B.7(5) is unconstitutional and should be stricken in its entirety.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **I. Charles Beverage's asbestos exposures at Alcoa.**

Charles Beverage was diagnosed with malignant mesothelioma in September 2015 and died of mesothelioma on October 7, 2015. (App. 194, 249). Although Charles was not able to give a deposition before he died, testimony from his son, former employee, and others who worked at Alcoa establish his exposure.

Charles worked at Alcoa's Davenport aluminum plant in Bettendorf, Iowa, between the 1950s and mid-1970s. (App. 254, 10:16-24; App. 255, 16:5-12; App. 280, 21:6-9). He was not an employee of Alcoa. (App. 256, 18:2-10). He was a general construction contractor at Alcoa and his own company, Beverage Construction Company, had an office inside the plant. (App. 255, 14:15-17:21; App. 279, 17:1-6; App. 280, 18:4-10, 18:16-19:15). His work took him into all areas of the plant. (App. 279, 17:7-16).

One of his co-workers, Edward Allers, worked with Charles at Alcoa from 1961 to 1971. (App. 278, 10:10-11:15; App. 282, 28:21-24; App. 283-84, 33:21-34:8). He saw Charles working around the installation and removal of insulation on steam lines. (App. 285, 40:14-41:19; App. 291,

65:1-5). Charles was also exposed to other asbestos products like transite board, insulating cement, and insulation blankets. (App. 290, 59:4-60:14; App. 287-88, 46:8-53:7; App. 311, 144:13-145:25).

In Allers' experience, IITI was the only insulation contractor at the plant and they installed insulation throughout the whole plant. (App. 286, 42:1-21; App. 304, 114:23-115:2; App. 312, 149:7-15). IITI installed asbestos insulation at the plant between 1965 and 1972. (App. 303, 110:3-111:22, 113:21-25; App. 305, 119:4-120:17).

Alcoa has acknowledged that it used asbestos insulation and other asbestos materials for processes associated with the manufacture of aluminum in the 1960s. (App. 330, 30:12-19; App. 395-400). Alcoa installed asbestos-containing insulation in the 1960s. (App. 342, 79:11-20; App. 340, 71:17-72:23). Alcoa's standard specification for steam piping required asbestos-containing insulation. (App. 366). Even as late as 2008, 85 percent of thermal insulation that was in the plant still contained asbestos. (App. 346, 95:13-96:7).

Despite the widespread use of asbestos insulation at its Davenport plant in the 1960s and 1970s, Alcoa had no communication protocols to warn contractors about asbestos at the plant. (App. 353, 123:16-21).



Allers never saw any warning signs about the hazards of dust at the plant, no requirements to use respirators, no wet-down methods used on the insulation, and no plastic sheeting used to section off insulation work. (App. 290-91, 61:22-63:1).

This despite the fact that Alcoa has been aware of the hazards of asbestos in relation to causing asbestosis since the 1940s. (App. 333, 43:3-6). Alcoa became aware that asbestos can cause cancer in the 1950s. (App. 333, 43:24-44:20). Alcoa was aware of the studies linking asbestos to mesothelioma in the 1960s. (App. 333, 44:22-45:16).

In addition to acting as an insulation contractor, IITI also sold asbestos-containing material to various customers, including Alcoa. (App. 472, 112:3-19; 112:30-113:10; App. 558). It sold asbestos insulation and insulating cement. (App. 432-33, 47:6-49:15; App. 433-34, 52:14-53:4). Documents establish that IITI sold substantial quantities of asbestos-containing insulation to Alcoa in the 1960s and 1970s. (App. 471, 109:9-19; App. 465, 84:1-17).

Iowa has long had employment standards regulating asbestos exposure. Iowa began compensating workers for occupational diseases related to exposure to asbestos in 1936. (App. 490-91, 182:4-186:15). In

1968, Iowa published employment safety rules establishing threshold limit values for air-borne concentrations of substances which could cause occupational illnesses. (App. 633-634, 646).

Soon thereafter, in 1971, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) was created by act of Congress. (App. 210). Its first regulatory activity was an emergency standard for asbestos of twelve fibers per cubic centimeter of air (f/cc). (App. 210). This was quickly lowered to 5 f/cc, and in 1976 to 2 f/cc. Since then, the asbestos standard was progressively lowered to its present value of 0.1 f/cc. (App. 210).

Asbestos fibers are invisible to the naked eye, even at very high concentrations. (App. 199). Workers usually do not even know they are being exposed to a carcinogen. (App. 212).

Plaintiffs' medical causation expert, Dr. Holstein, concluded that Charles experienced exposures to asbestos beginning no later than 1967 and continuing to about 1976 on the premises of the Alcoa plant in Bettendorf, Iowa. (App. 196). He explained that "[t]he aluminum operations described in the testimony of Larry Beverage would certainly have involved the ubiquitous usage of asbestos-containing thermal

insulation products throughout the plant in that era. Maintenance, repair, and new construction activities that tied into the old equipment would most certainly have caused large releases of asbestos dust from such equipment and from installation of new equipment.” (App. 196).

Given that Charles was “continually in the production areas throughout the plant, and because he was there for construction activities of the type that would cause disruption of asbestos-containing thermal insulation products, it is inevitable that he would have inhaled asbestos dust on many occasions and often at very substantial concentrations.” (App. 196). Charles’s asbestos exposures cumulatively constituted the direct and sole cause of his malignant pleural mesothelioma, which caused his death. (App. 196).

## **II. Procedural history of this case.**

The Beverage family filed their Original Petition at Law, asserting wrongful death and survival claims against Alcoa and IITI, on September 27, 2017. (App. 43). Therein, they alleged that Charles had died of malignant mesothelioma. (App. 45).

Alcoa and IITI sought summary judgment on the grounds that the Beverages’ claims were barred by Iowa Code § 686B.7(5). After briefing

and argument, the trial court agreed and granted summary judgment to Defendants/Appellees. (App. 776). This timely appeal followed.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The district court erred in applying Iowa Code § 686B.7(5) in a manner that unconstitutionally deprived the Beverages of their vested rights against Alcoa and IITI.**

While the due process clause was not invoked below, the Beverages argued in the trial court that they retained their premises liability claims against Alcoa and that the statute does not override longstanding Iowa premises liability law. (App. 173-76; App. 710-14, 30:1-34:15). They similarly argued that they retained their product liability claims against IITI. (App. 157-59). The trial court disagreed. (App. 775-76).

A constitutional challenge to a district court's order is reviewed *de novo*. *Ames Rental Prop. Ass'n v. City of Ames*, 736 N.W.2d 255, 258 (Iowa 2007); *In re Estate of Adams*, 599 N.W.2d 707, 709 (Iowa 1999).

#### **A. The Beverage family's common law claims accrued against Alcoa and IITI at the time of Charles's death.**

At the time of Charles's death in October 2015, the law provided for premises liability claims against Alcoa and product liability claims against IITI.

With regard to Alcoa, Iowa law provided (and still provides) that landowners who hire independent contractors have a non-contractual duty to take reasonable precautions to keep the premises in a safe condition. *See Greenwell v. Meredith Corp.*, 189 N.W.2d 901, 905 (Iowa 1971). “The weight of authority supports the rule that, independently of contract or statute, one who is having work done on his premises by an independent contractor is under the obligation to use ordinary care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition for the servants of the contractor.” *Id.* Reiterating this holding, this Court later held that “a possessor of land is subject to liability to its invitees if its premises are not in a reasonably safe condition whether the possessor maintained the premises itself or hired an independent contractor to do so.” *Kragel v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 537 N.W.2d 699, 704 (Iowa 1995).

After *Kragel*, this Court abolished the distinctions between invitees and licensees in premises liability cases. In *Koenig v. Koenig*, 766 N.W.2d 635, 645-46 (Iowa 2009), the Court officially abandoned the invitee-licensee distinction and “impose[d] upon owners and occupiers only the duty to exercise reasonable care in the maintenance of their premises for the protection of lawful visitors.”

Alcoa thus had a duty to exercise reasonable care to maintain its premises in a manner that would be safe for Charles, a lawful (and long term) visitor at Alcoa's Bettendorf plant. The Beverages' evidence showed that, in contravention of this duty, Charles was routinely exposed to asbestos insulation on Alcoa's premises in the 1950s, 1960s, and 1970s, that Alcoa was aware that asbestos was being used on its premises, that Alcoa had known since the 1940s that asbestos exposure could cause fatal disease, and that Alcoa did not take precautions to warn or protect Charles from asbestos exposure.

Further, with regard to IITI, under Iowa products liability law, a plaintiff may state a claim by showing that their injury was caused by a product that was manufactured *or supplied* by the defendant. *Spaur v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.*, 510 N.W.2d 854, 858 (Iowa 1994) (quoting *Mulcahy v. Eli Lilly & Co.*, 386 N.W.2d 67, 76 (Iowa 1986)). As noted, IITI supplied and installed asbestos insulation at Alcoa. (App. 472, 112:3-19).

The Beverage family brought forth evidence that Charles's exposure to asbestos at Alcoa, and from thermal insulation installed by IITI, was the cause of his mesothelioma. (App. 196). This satisfies the

causation requirements for an asbestos case in Iowa. *Spaur v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.*, 510 N.W.2d 854, 859–60 (Iowa 1994).

Importantly, these claims against Alcoa and IITI accrued when Charles was diagnosed with mesothelioma in 2014. Generally, a “cause of action accrues when an aggrieved party has a right to institute and maintain a suit.” *Thorp v. Casey’s General Stores, Inc.*, 446 N.W.2d 457, 460 (Iowa 1989); *Chrischilles v. Griswold*, 260 Iowa 453, 461, 150 N.W.2d 94, 99 (1967). Tort actions accrue when all elements of the cause of action have occurred and are known to the plaintiff. *Thorp*, 446 N.W.2d at 460; *LeBeau v. Dimig*, 446 N.W.2d 800, 801 (Iowa 1989). As a general rule, no cause of action accrues under Iowa law until the wrongful act produces injury to the claimant. *Scott v. City of Sioux City*, 432 N.W.2d 144, 147 (Iowa 1988).

When Charles died of mesothelioma in 2015, his claims survived in his heirs. Iowa Code § 611.20; *Weitl v. Moes*, 311 N.W.2d 259, 270 (Iowa 1981), *overruled on other grounds by Audubon-Exira Ready Mix, Inc. v. Illinois Cent. Gulf R. Co.*, 335 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1983). In addition, upon his death from mesothelioma, a wrongful death claim accrued to his children for loss of parental consortium. Iowa Code §

613.15; *Audubon-Exira Ready Mix*, 335 N.W.2d at 151-52; see also *Thorp*, 446 N.W.2d at 460 (holding that in tort cases involving death, the cause of action accrues upon the date of death when the statute of limitations begins to run) (citing *In re Estate of Hoover*, 251 N.W.2d 529, 531 (Iowa 1977)).

Here, the Beverage family had accrued causes of action against Alcoa and IITI for Charles's asbestos-related cancer at the time of his death in 2015, long before the Iowa legislature enacted Iowa Code § 686B.7(5).

**B. The district court's retroactive application of Iowa Code § 686B.7(5) deprived the Beverage family of their vested property rights in violation of state and federal due process protections.**

By applying Iowa Code § 686B.7(5) retroactively to deprive the Beverage family of their accrued causes of action against Alcoa and IITI, the district court deprived them of a vested right in violation of due process guarantees.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> This argument assumes that Iowa Code § 686B.7(5) was intended to abolish asbestos claims against premises owners and product suppliers, a claim which Plaintiffs/Appellants disagree with and that is challenged in Section III.



The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that the states shall not “deprive any person of . . . property, without due process of law.” The Iowa Constitution likewise guarantees that “no person shall be deprived of . . . property without due process of law.” Iowa Const. art. I, § 9.

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