No. 19-1852

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

**LARRY C. BEVERAGE, Individually and as Personal
Representative of the Estate of CHARLES E. BEVERAGE,
deceased, LINDA K. ANDERSON, and BONNIE K. VALENTINE,**

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

**Alcoa, INC., a Pennsylvania Corporation, and IOWA-ILLINOIS
TAYLOR INSULATION, INC., successor-in-interest to IOWA
ILLINOIS THERMAL INSULATION, INC., an Iowa Corporation,**

Defendants-Appellees.

Appeal from the Scott County District Court,
District Court No. LACE129455,
The Honorable Judge Patrick A. McElyea, presiding.

**AMENDED FINAL BRIEF
OF
DEFENDANT-APPELLEE,
ARCONIC, INC., f/k/a ALCOA, INC.**

Robert M. Livingston, AT0004728

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

ARGUMENT

The District Court’s Order granting summary judgment in favor of Arconic should be affirmed. The Plaintiffs’ constitutional arguments (Brief Points I and III) were not preserved and are, therefore, waived. If the Plaintiffs’ equal protection argument (Brief Point III) was preserved, which is disputed, they have failed to articulate a class of similarly situated

plaintiffs who are allegedly treated differently and there is a rational basis supporting legitimate state interests in enacting Iowa Code Section 686B.7(5). As such, their equal protection claim fails as a matter of law. If the Plaintiffs' due process argument (Brief Point I) was preserved, which is disputed, the argument fails because there is a rational basis supporting retroactive application of the Statute and Plaintiffs had more than a reasonable amount of time to file their Iowa suit before the Statute became effective. As to their only argument that is preserved, interpretation of Iowa Code Section 686B.7(5) (Brief Point II), the District Court committed no error of law when interpreting the Statute and granting summary judgment in favor of Arconic.

I. The Plaintiffs' constitutional arguments (Brief Points I and III) are not preserved; as such, they are waived.

"It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before [Iowa's appellate courts] will decide them on appeal." *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) (citing *Metz v. Amoco Oil Co.*, 581 N.W.2d 597, 600 (Iowa 1998) ("issues must be presented to and passed upon by the district court before they can be raised and decided on appeal."); *Peters v. Burlington N. R.R.*, 492 N.W.2d 399, 401-402 (Iowa 1992) ("issues must be raised and decided by the [district] court before they may be decided on

appeal.”). “When a district court fails to rule on an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal.” *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537 (citing *Benavides v. J.C. Penney Life Ins. Co.*, 539 N.W.2d 352, 356 (Iowa 1995), and, *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Pflibsen*, 350 N.W.2d 202, 206 (Iowa 1984)).

The reason that issues must be raised before the District Court stems from the Constitutional and Statutory authority provided to Iowa’s appellate courts. The Iowa Supreme Court and Iowa Court of Appeals have appellate jurisdiction to correct errors at law. Iowa Const., Art. V § 4; Iowa Code § 602.4102(1-2). Appellate jurisdiction over an issue requires, therefore, that the trial court be given an opportunity to consider and rule on the error raised on appeal. See Thomas A. Mayes & Anuradha Vaitheswaran, *Error Preservation in Civil Appeals in Iowa: Perspectives on Present Practice*, 55 Drake L. Rev. 39, 44 (Fall 2006) (“If alleged error was not pointed out to the trial court, it is hard to see how the trial court’s failure to rule on an objection that was never made can properly be called an error of law amenable to correction.”)

“The scope of the error preservation principle encompasses nearly every possible issue in every possible case.” 55 Drake L. Rev. at 46. “Even

issues implicating constitutional rights must be presented to and ruled upon by the district court in order to preserve error for appeal.” *Taft v. Iowa Dist. Court for Linn Cty.*, 828 N.W.2d 309, 322 (Iowa 2013) (refusing to consider due process claim on appeal when not adequately raised before and decided by the district court) (citing *State v. Biddle*, 652 N.W.2d 191, 203 (Iowa 2002) (rejected strict scrutiny argument to equal protection claim because it was not first raised to the district court); *also, see, Strand v. Rasmussen*, 648 N.W.2d 95, 100-101 (Iowa 2002) (holding that a due process issue raised for the first time on appeal was not preserved and holding that equal protection issue raised without ruling by the District Court was not preserved), *and, In re Det. of Johnson*, No. 01-1151, 2002 Iowa App. LEXIS 1065 at *14 (Iowa Ct. App. October 16, 2002) (after review of the pleading claimed to raise an issue of substantive due process and finding only a general assertion to that effect, and after review of the district court order, it was held that error was not preserved on substantive due process argument because it was not first raised to the district court).

The Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure facilitate review of the jurisdictional preservation of error on appeal. *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1)*. In this regard, parties to an appeal must set out for each issue in appeal “how the issue was preserved for review, with references to

the places in the record where the issue was raised and decided.” Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1), *and, see, Channon v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.*, 629 N.W.2d 835, 866 (Iowa 2001) (citing Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(1)(f), now Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1)).

The failure to state how the issue was preserved, and/or the failure to refer to portions of the record showing where the issue was raised and decided by a district court, results in waiver of the issue on appeal. *See Channon*, 629 N.W.2d at 866; *and, see, e.g., Runyon v. Kubota Tractor Corp.*, 653 N.W.2d 582, 584-85 (Iowa 2002) (defendant-appellant failed to mention how or where their constitutional claims was raised in the trial court, resulting in waiver of the argument for a lack of preservation). To be clear, constitutional arguments not urged in the trial court are waived on appeal. *See Martin v. Raytheon Co.*, 497 N.W.2d 818, 820 (Iowa 1993) (oblique references to constitutional rights do not suffice to alert the district court to the issue and fail to preserve error for appeal resulting in waiver), *and, Metz*, 581 N.W.2d at 599 (due process claim never raised before the district court and therefore waived).

On the one hand, the Plaintiffs concede in their Appeal Brief that their due process and equal protection arguments (Plaintiffs’ Brief Points I and III) were not invoked below. (Plaintiffs’ Brief, pp. 20, 42). On the

other hand, the Plaintiffs still present their constitutional arguments on appeal. The Plaintiffs seemingly suggest that they raised the due process claim to the District Court by arguing that they retained their premises liability claim against Arconic and their products liability claim against IITI. (Plaintiffs' Brief, pp. 20-21). They also seemingly suggest they raised the equal protection claim to the District Court by arguing that premises owners could expose persons to asbestos with impunity. (Plaintiffs' Brief, pp. 42-43).

The Plaintiffs' attempt to incorporate their constitutional challenges into broader arguments that may have been raised before the District Court is not sufficient to preserve error under the law because they were not raised before the District Court. *See Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537. Even if the Plaintiffs made an oblique reference to the constitutional challenges, it would be insufficient, but the Plaintiffs did not even make an oblique reference to these arguments before the District Court. *See id.* The Plaintiffs did not request that the District Court rule on those issues (because they were not raised in the first place) and the failure to have the District Court consider and rule on the constitutional issues results in a failure to preserve error. *See id.* This Court lacks appellate jurisdiction as a result. *See Iowa Const., Art. V § 4, and Iowa Code § 603.4102(1-2).* This is

true even though the Plaintiffs' arguments are based on the constitution. *See Taft*, 828 N.W.2d at 322, *Biddle*, 652 N.W.2d at 203, *Strand*, 648 N.W.2d at 100-101, *In re Det. of Johnson*, No. 01-1151, 2002 Iowa App. LEXIS 1065 at *14, and *Martin*, 497 N.W.2d at 820.

The Plaintiffs have also failed to set forth in their Appeal Brief where and how their constitutional arguments were preserved and have waived the arguments as a result. (Plaintiffs' Brief, pp. 20-21. 42-43). *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1)*, and, *Channon*, 629 N.W.2d at 866.

Moreover, their apparent suggestions of preserving these constitutional claims as incorporated in broader arguments are refuted by the record. A review of the record confirms that the Plaintiffs have not raised their due process or equal protection arguments to the District Court.

The Plaintiffs' resistances to the summary judgment motions and arguments raised by the Plaintiffs at oral argument, lacked any mention of due process or equal protection. (Plaintiffs' Brief in Resistance to Alcoa MSJ; Plaintiffs' Brief in Resistance to IITI MSJ; Tr: 29:8-62:15, App. 702-735). The Plaintiffs never raised any argument before the District Court about retroactive application of Iowa Code Section 686B.7(5) or deprivation of a vested right in violation of due process. The Plaintiffs

never raised any argument before the District Court about equal protection or treating asbestos-related claimants differently from non-asbestos-related claimants or that there was no rational basis supporting a legitimate state interest in enacting Iowa Code Section 686B.7(5).

On October 1, 2019, the District Court entered its Order on the summary judgment motions filed by Alcoa and IITI. (10-1-19 Order, App. 768-777). The District Court set out the proper standard for evaluating the summary judgment motions, considered the arguments raised by the Parties, and undertook a learned interpretation of Iowa Code Section 686B.7(5) by evaluating the plain and unambiguous terms and applying the Statute to grant summary judgment in favor of Alcoa and IITI. (10.1.19 Order, pp. 1-9, App. 768-776). Because the Plaintiffs did not raise any due process or equal protection argument, the District Court's Summary Judgment Order did not consider or rule upon such arguments. (10.1.19 Order App. 768-777).

In short, the Plaintiffs have failed to preserve and have waived their arguments about due process and equal protection. Even if they had preserved error on these issues, which is disputed, the merits of the Plaintiffs' constitutional arguments fail.

II. If the Plaintiffs’ equal protection argument (Brief Point III) was preserved, which is disputed, they have failed to articulate a class of similarly situated plaintiffs who are allegedly treated differently and there is a rational basis supporting legitimate state interests in enacting Iowa Code Section 686B.7(5).

A. Standard of Review and Preservation of Error

This Court reviews summary judgment rulings for correction of errors at law. *AFSCME Iowa Council 61 v. State*, 928 N.W.2d 21, 30-31 (Iowa 2019). Because the Plaintiffs appeal from the District Court ruling on summary judgment, review for correction of errors at law is the proper standard of review in this case. *See id.*

As argued above, the Plaintiffs did not preserve error on their equal protection argument.

Had the Plaintiffs raised and preserved an equal protection argument before the District Court, which is disputed, the standard of review on the constitutional argument would be *de novo*. *Id.* at 31. *De novo* review of constitutional claims, however, is subject to the strong presumption that statutes are constitutional. *Id.* (“statutes are cloaked with a presumption of constitutionality”). If they preserved error on the equal protection argument, the Plaintiffs would have had to satisfy a heavy burden to overcome the strong presumption of constitutionality and prove unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. *See id.* The Plaintiffs,

furthermore, would have had to “refute every reasonable basis upon which the statute could be found to be constitutional.” *See id.* If the statute is capable of being construed in more than one manner, one of which is constitutional, the Plaintiffs could not satisfy their burden and the Court would have had to adopt the construction of the statute that is constitutional. *See id.*

Despite not preserving error on their equal protection argument, which has been raised for the first time on appeal, the Plaintiffs would be unable to satisfy their heavy burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Iowa Code Section 686B.7(5) violates equal protection. *See id.*

B. The Plaintiffs have failed to articulate a class of similarly-situated plaintiffs who are allegedly treated differently.

“Essentially, the Equal Protection Clause requires that similarly-situated persons be treated alike.” *Bowers v. Polk Cty. Bd. of Supervisors*, 638 N.W.2d 682, 689 (Iowa 2002), *accord*, *AFSCME Iowa Council 6*, 928 N.W.2d at 31-34. The Equal Protection Clauses of the Iowa Constitution and Fourteenth Amendment are generally analyzed in the same way.¹

¹ The Iowa Supreme Court has usually found the federal and state equal protection clauses identical in scope, import, and purpose; and applied the same analysis under both clauses. *Bowers*, 638 N.W.2d at 689. This is especially true when the parties, as they do in this case, do not ask the

The threshold determination in all equal protection challenges is whether persons are similarly situated. *NextEra Energy Res. LLC v. Iowa Utils. Bd.*, 815 N.W.2d 30, 45 (Iowa 2012). In other words, the “first step of an equal protection claim is to identify the classes of similarly situated plaintiffs singled out for differential treatment.” *Grovijohn v. Virjon, Inc.*, 643 N.W.2d 200, 204 (Iowa 2002), *accord*, *Carter v. Rowe*, No. 05-0750, 2005 Iowa App. LEXIS 1547, at *6-8 (Ct. App. Dec. 21, 2005). “If people are not similarly situated, their dissimilar treatment does not violate equal protection.” *NextEra Energy Res. LLC*, 815 N.W.2d at 45 (internal punctuation modified) (citing *Bowers*, 638 N.W.2d at 689 and quoting *In re Morrow*, 616 N.W.2d 544, 547 (Iowa 2000)). Determining whether classifications involve similarly situated individuals is “often intertwined with whether the identified classification has any rational basis.” *AFSCME Iowa Council 61*, 928 N.W.2d at 32.

If it is determined that persons are similarly situated, the Court applies “one of three levels of scrutiny depending on the legislative classification under attack.” *NextEra Energy Res. LLC*, 815 N.W.2d at 45.

Court to depart from the unified analysis. *See NextEra Energy Res. LLC v. Iowa Utils. Bd.*, 815 N.W.2d 30, 45 (Iowa 2012) (jealously reserving the right to apply federal equal protection principles differently under the Iowa Constitution).

The Plaintiffs concede in their Appeal Brief that their claimed distinction should be evaluated on the least rigorous equal protection scrutiny because it does not involve a fundamental right or inherently suspect classification. (Plaintiffs' Brief, p. 44). If the Plaintiffs have identified disparate treatment of similarly situated persons, the rational basis test would be the appropriate level of equal protection scrutiny to apply in this case. *See NextEra Energy Res. LLC*, 815 N.W.2d at 46 (identifying the three different levels of scrutiny that depend on the type of legislative classification under attack).

As the lowest level of scrutiny, the rational basis test is very deferential. *Id.* “Even in the zealous protection of the constitution's mandate of equal protection, courts must give respect to the legislative process and presume its enactments are constitutional.” *AFSCME Iowa Council 61*, 928 N.W.2d at 31 (quoting *Varnum v. Brien*, 763 N.W.2d 862, 879 (Iowa 2009)).

The rational basis test defers to the legislature's prerogative to make policy decisions by requiring only a plausible policy justification, mere rationality of the facts underlying the decision, and, again, a merely rational relationship between the classification and the policy justification.

AFSCME Iowa Council 61, 928 N.W.2d at 32 (quoting *Varnum*, 763 N.W.2d at 879).

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